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PREFACE.

St St b

to custom, desire to give expression of a few words of explanation regarding the work. In

compiling a history of a railroad we were treading unknown paths which might lead to suc-

cess or failure as it met with the favor, or the reverse, of the army of operatives to whom
we looked for encouragement. We are happy to announce that those to whom we appealed for
support have looked with favor upon our enterprise and have accorded us a liberal and hearty sup-
port for which we extend our sincere thanks.

We are under especial obligations to Mr. William K. Ackerman for his generous permission
to use his excellent ‘‘ Sketch of the Illinois Central Railroad Company,” which is as complete and
authentic as a work of this character can well be. No better commentary on his effort can be
made than that appearing in the Railway Age at the time the work was first issued, which says:

““Mr. W. K. Ackerman, for many years president of the Illinois Central Railroad Company
and for nearly thirty-two years connected with that corporation in various capacities, has availed
hlmself of his well earned leisure to prepare an extremely interesting brochure which he entitles,

‘ Historical Sketch of the Illinois Central Railroad; together with a brief biographical record of
its incorporators and some of its early officers.’ ....... No man living is so competent as Mr.
Ackerman to chronicle the early and latter days of this great enterprise, whose inception dates as
far back as 1835. .. ..... -An admirable feature of the work is the entire absence of censorious-
ness or the indication.of personal feeling on the part of the writer against any of the numerous
officials with whom he was associated during his long career, or of his successors whose adminis-
tration he might possibly be tempted to criticise. On the other hand, "a kindly and appreciative
spirit marks the reference to the numerous officers of the company who are specially named, and
some of the sketches of persons both living and dead are extremely interesting.”

We desire to return thanks to the chief officials of the various railway orders for their court-
esy in assisting us to compile creditable sketches of the orders over which they preside. E. E.
Clark, Grand Chief Conductor of the O. R. C.; Mrs. J. H. Moore, Grand President of the L. A. of
O. R.C.; F.P. Sargent, Grand Master of the B. of L. F.; Mrs. Georgie M. Sargent, Grand Presi-
dent of the L. S. of B. of L. F.; Mrs. Ray Watterson, Grand Mistress of L. A. of B. R. T.; C. H.
Salmons, Editor B. of L. E. Monthly Journal; Mrs. W. A. Murdock, Grand President, and Mrs.
Harry St. Clair, Grand Secretary of the G. I. A. to B. of. L. E. have given ‘us their hearty co-
operation.

We desire, too, to extend our thanks to the many officials and army of operatives of the Illi-
nois Central for their generous patronage, without which .our efforts would have been in vain. To
them is due what credit there may be for the success of the work, for without it only a dismal fail-
ure would have ensued. We realize that there are many whose names should appear within our
pages that do not, but owing to indifference at the time our representative called or absence at re-
peated endeavors to secure an interview the facts could not be obtained and of necessity must
be omitted.

We have spared no effort nor expense to make this volume the most superbly illustrated
work of its kind ever issued from an American press and have endeavored to raise and hold the
biographical section up to the high literary standard set by the historian.

Trusting that a generous and discriminating public will give due credit for the excellencies
of our efforts and judge lightly that wherein we may have fallen below the standard we had set,
we place in its hands the fruit of our endeavor—a History of the Illinois Central Railroad Company,
with biographical sketches of the men who have made it.

HN ISSUING the History of the Illinois Central Railroad Company, the publishers, according

THE PUBLISHERS.
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HISTORY OF THE
ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY,

BY W. K. ACKERMAN.

. E Lol ol alial el

N undertaking a brief sketch of the origin
of the Illinois Central Railroad, it is nec-
essary to refer somewhat in detail to the
correspondence of two men closely identi-

fied with its early progress, and whose names
stand out prominently in the history of the
state; I need hardly say that these are the Hon.
Sidney Breese and the Hon. Stephen A. Douglas.
In writing upon the subject, if one were to con-
fine himself to the contentions indulged in by
these two gentlemen, for the credit of either
originating or advocating the scheme, consider-
able time and space would have to be given up
in the endeavor to reconcile their respective
claims. From the most careful examination
made of the correspondence that passed be-
tween them upon the subject, it does not ap-
pear, however, that either of these gentlemen
actually originated the plan of a central road;
indeed Judge Douglas lays no positive claim
to this, but Judge Breese, in his letter to the
[llinois State Register, Dec. 23, 1850, says: ‘'l
must have the credit of it, for I originated it in
1835.” And in his famous letter to Judge
Douglas, written Jan. 25, 1851, to the latter at
Washington, while in the senate, he says, ‘'l
claim to have first projected this great road in
my letter of October, 1835,”’—meaning his
letter to Judge John York Sawyer of Oct. 16,
1835. But even in this letter, he gives credit

for the plan to “‘an intelligent friend in Bond
county,” who was William S. Waite of Green-
ville, and who proved himself an ardent sup-
porter of the road until its final completion.
These claims of Judge Breese are referred to
by Judge Douglas in a somewhat sarcastic as
well as a facetious manner in the voluminous
correspondence® which was carried on during
1850 and 1851, but the latter modestly abstains
from claiming any connection with the measure
until December, 1843—the year in which he
entered the house of representatives and the
same year in which Judge Breese entered the
senate—or any exclusive credit for the consum-
mation of the scheme. What Judge Breese did
claim, was undoubtedly true, z/z: that he had
‘‘said and written” more in favor of the plan
than anyone else, and for this he was entitled
to great credit.

The daily /llinois State Register of Dec. 19,
1850, published an article, quoted from the
Benton Standard, stating that Judge Breese,
favored what was known as the ‘‘Holbrook
charter,” to which particular reference will be
made hereafter. This stirred Judge Breese to
a reply in which he stated that he was in favor
of accepting the release of the Cairo company
on condition that their rights were to be re-

* “*Early lllinois Railroads.

By W. K. Ackerman,
Chicago, 1884.”’
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spected. In the same letter, he claimed that
he was entitled to the credit of the whole
scheme of a central road, having ‘‘originated it
in 1835.” The editor of the Registcr, while
willing to accord him all due credit, reminds
him that the efforts of Senators Douglas and
Shields, and Representatives Wentworth, Mc-
Clernand, Richardson, Bissell, Young, and
Harris, must not be overlooked: that they all
did their duty and were deserving of praise.
On Jan. 5, 1851, Senator Douglas replied to
- Judge Breese in the columns of the State Reg-
ister, assuring him that no injustice was in-
tended to be done him, and reminding him of
the fact that when the people of Chicago
tendered him and Gen. Shields a complimentary
dinner for the part they had taken in procuring
the grant of land from the general government,
they modestly declined it, and in their letter
declining the honor awarded the principal merit
to their colleagues.

To go back of the claims of both of these
distinguished gentlemen, I suppose it is an
historical fact that although Judge Breese
brought the plan prominently before the people
of the state by newspaper publications and
letters to prominent men, still the credit of
originating it really belongs to Lieut. Gov.
Alexander M. Jenkins when in the state senate
in 1832.*% This was three years before the in-
telligent friend from Bond county whispered in
Judge Breese's ear. Senator Jenkins’ plan
was to build the road from Cairo to Peru.
Judge Breese’s plan contemplated a line from
Cairo to Galena, but when the plan was fully
developed, Judge Douglas wrote Chicago as
the northeastern terminus. Judge Breese said
that the reason for this was because Judge
Douglas had been investing in Chicago real
estate and on that account wanted the road
extended to that point. This was an unfair
imputation, but a natural one, for Judge Breese
to make, because his plan of a central road
which was a local one, did not contemplate a

* One year after the first act relating to the con-
struction of railways was passed by the general assem-
bly of the State of Illinois, Jan. 28, 1831.

branch to Chicago. Many opposed the enter-
prise in the central part of the state, fearing
that a north and south line would divert traffic
that that section might derive from an east and
west line through the state. It must be borne
in mind, that the prevailing idea at that time
was to have the products of Illinois shipped to
the south wz/e Cairo and the Mississippi river;
but Judge Douglas, who took a broader view
of the enterprise, saw the necessity of connect-
ing the lakes with the Mississippi, and the St.
Lawrence with the Gulf of Mexico, as well as
a connection at Chicago with the various rail-
ways then projected or in process of construc-
tion from the principal cities of the east, so
that the measure would commend itself to con-
gress as a national work tending to benefit the
whole country and not a local enterprise for the
particular benefit of the state of Illinois. Only
in this way could the votes of the members of
congress from Pennsylvania, New York, New
England and other portions of the Union be
secured, as they did not of course favor any
proposition having for its tendency the diver-
sion of trade from the upper Mississippi toward
Mobile alone.

Judge Breese was named as an incorporator
in the first charter granted by the state in 1836
for a central road and having taken so deep an
interest in the subject, he felt a commendable
pride in the ultimate success of the measure.
He was naturally jealous of his position in the
matter, hence he could not brook a younger
and more active rival. But he was entirely too
sensitive in supposing that Judge Douglas had
not properly recognized his early efforts in the
matter. This feeling he describes in one of his
letters to Douglas, in which he says, “‘In the
outset, I will candidly confess that, upon the
subject of the Illinois Central Railroad, with all
its concomitants, I am very sensitive, the more
especially since I thought I had discovered a
studious endeavor on your part and on the part

_ of those with whom you have acted, to conceal

from the public my agency in bringing the
measure into favor and in opening the way for
successful legislation in regard to it. In none
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of your speeches and letters you, and others
who have enjoyed your confidence, have made
and written, has there been the least allusion
to the part I have acted in the matter, nor in
any of the papers in the state, supposed to be
under your influence. Seeing this, and believ-
ing there was a concerted effort to appropriate
to yourselves, exclusively, honors to which I
knew you were not entitled, I deem it my duty,
for the truth of history, to assert my claim, and
in doing so, have been compelled, much against
my will, to speak of myself and of my acts in
regard to it. My whole life will show that it
is the f7rst time I have ever exposed myself to
the charge of egotism, and under the influence
which actuated me, I may have claimed too
much.”

The first act incorporating an Illinois Cen-
tral Railroad company, was passed by the legis-
lature of the state of Illinois, January 18, 1836.
It was a special charter and granted many valu-
able privileges. It contemplated rail communi-
cation only as far north as the Illinois and
Michigan Canal. The scheme proved an utter
failure.

Under the internal-improvement act passed
Feb. 27, 1837, its construction was undertaken
by the state, without success, as there was
neither credit to ensure, or capital to complete
it. The appropriation under this act, $3,500,-
000, was in any event totally inadequate.

The Cairo City & Canal company was in-
corporated March 4, 1837. It was authorized
to hold real estate in Alexander county, but
more particularly the tract of land incorporated
as the city of Cairo. They were to proceed to
lay it off into lots for a town to be known as
the city of Cairo; they were also empowered
to construct dykes, canals, levees and embank-
ments for the security and preservation of said
city; also to construct a canal to unite with
Cache river, and to use water for a canal run-
ning to and through the city. Reference to
this scheme is made in order to show in a
gradual way the origin and progress of the
Illinois Central Railroad; its connection with
the canal company was only incidental, Darius

B. Holbrook, who afterward figured conspicu-
ously in the effort to obtain a charter for a
central road having been connected with the
canal company.

Five years later, March 6, 1843, the state
having abandoned the attempt to build any
more railroads, the legislature incorporated the
Great Western Railway company. This was
known as the ‘‘Holbrook charter,”’ so frequently
referred to in the correspondence between
Judge Breese* and Judge Douglas. This char-
ter contemplated a ‘‘pre-emption right’’ only, to
Holbrook and his associates, in which the state
was to have no interest, instead of a direct
grant of land to the state. This company was
to consist of the president and directors of the
Cairo City & Canal Company, and the board of
directors were to be chosen by that company.

The road was to be commenced as previ-
ously contemplated at the mouth of the Ohio
river, and was to run in about the same direc-
tion z/a Vandalia, Shelbyville, Decatur and
Bloomington, and to the same objective point,
the Illinois and Michigan canal. Rates of toll
were to be established by the directors. The
company was authorized to issue bonds, which
were to be countersigned by the president -and
treasurer of the Cairo City & Canal Company.
Section 14 provided that whenever the whole
indebtedness of the company was paid and
liquidated then the legislature should have
power to alter and amend the charter as the
public good should require.

An estimate was to be made by a person
appointed by the governor of the value of the
work already done by the state, under the
internal-improvement act of Feb. 27, 1837, and
this was to be paid for by the newly-organized
company at any time during the progress of the
work. When all the obligations of the com-
pany were paid, then the railroad company was
thereafter to forever pay the state, annually, as
a consideration for granting the charter, one-
fourth of the net annual income, after the share-

* Judge Breese was elected to the United States
senate, Dlec. 18, 1842, for full term commencing
March 4, 1843.
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holders had received in any one year twelve
per cent on their investment; and the act ex-
pressly provided that no legislature should at
any time so reduce the .tolls as to produce less
than twelve per cent per annum net to the
shareholders.

The Great Western Railway company, after
spending large sums of money in doing work
which eventually inured to the benefit of the
state, became insolvent, and this third attempt
to build a central road proved a signal failure.
On March 3, 1845, its charter was repealed by
a special act, passed for that purpose.

That Judge Breese favored what was
known as the Holbrook charter is shown by

the fact that on Dec. 27, 1843, he presented in’

the house of representatives a memorial of the
Great Western Railway company, praying the
right of pre-emption for Holbrook and his
associates to a portion of the public lands over
which the proposed road was to be constructed.
Judge Douglas, who was in the house of repre-
sentatives at this time, declined to give this
bill his support, very properly insisting that
whatever grant was made should be conferred
directly upon the State of Illinois, and not
upon an irresponsible private corporation that
he did not believe would carry out the project,
and which he stigmatized as a ‘‘stupendous
private speculation to enable the Cairo com-
pany to sell their chartered privileges in Eng-
land.” This opposition of Judge Douglas was
probably what first excited the hostility of
Judge Breese toward him. Judge Breese re-
fused to coincide with the views expressed by
Judge Douglas, and the bill failed of passage.
His reason for wishing the pre-emption to run
to a private corporation was, because /Ze had no
faith in the ability of the state to complete the
work. This was quite natural considering the
fact that they had so signally failed in all pre-
vious efforts to build the road. At the next
session on Dec. 12, 1844, in deference to the
views expressed by Judge Douglas, Judge
Breese introduced a bill which substituted the
words state of Illinois for the Holbrook com-
pany, as the party to whom the pre-emption

right was to pass; but he appears to have given
it a luke-warm support and it did not pass. At
the next session, Jan. 15, 1846, Judge Breese
reported another bill to grant to the state of
Illinois certain alternate sections of the public

" “lands to aid in the construction of the Northern

Cross and Illinois Central Railroads in Illinois,
but it does not appear that he ever moved to
take up this bill. At the next session, Dec. 17,
1846, still another bill was introduced by Judge
Breese, covering a right of way and a pre-
emption right. It omitted the donations to the
state, but permitted it to purchase the lands at
a dollar and a quarter per acre upon the con-
dition that it would build a railroad through

. them. This bill failed also.

In these various efforts, it would appear
that Judge Breese was in favor of granting pre-
emption rights only, and a right of way, either
to a private corporation or to the state. Judge
Douglas, on the other hand, insisted that an
absolute donation to the state should be made.
This was one of the principal points of differ-
ence between them. Judge Douglas stated to
Judge Breese- that if he would consent to this
change he would allow him to take all the
credit. Another point of difference was in
regard to the terminus at Chicago. It is evi-
dent that Judge Douglas particularly favored
this plan, regardless of whether the road was
built to Dubuque or not. And indeed the
eastern members also favored this plan be-
cause it contemplated a connection with the
lakes ; the line from Cairo to Galena being
regarded in the East as a sectional scheme,
calculated to throw the trade upon the Gulf of
Mexico at the expense of the cities on the lakes
and the Atlantic seaboard.

Judge Breese, on the other hand, did not
favor Chicago, as he freely admits. He says
in one of his letters: “You will recollect that
my bills, all of them, established the roads on
the routes defined by our internal-improvement
system of 1836 and 1837, on which the state
had expended such large sums of money; and
that fact was a strong argument, as I thought,
in my report. In 1847, you made choice of
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Chicago as your home, and, as I understood,
purchased a large amount of property there.
Now neither of my bills touched Chicago ; they
confined the roads to the old routes—the IlI-
inois Central Road, as then understood, from
Cairo, by Vandalia, Shelbyville, Decatur, Bloom-
ington, Peru and Dixon to Galena. A new
light broke in upon you when, in conjunction
with Mr. Butterfield and others interested in
Chicago, a great movement was set on foot to
disturb my plans and to change the route of
the Illinois Central Railroad, so as to make it
run to Chicago and thence to Galena. Youcan
not have forgotten how much surprised I was
when you informed me of your intention, after
you had taken your seat, in December 1847,
to bring forward this proposition, how earnest-
ly I urged upon you, while admitting the im-
portance of the change, an adherence to the old
plan.”

On Feb. 10, 1849, the charter of the Great
Western Railway was renewed by the legisla-
ture of Illinois, to take effect April 13, 1849,
the grant running as in the first act, to the
“president and directors of the Cairo City &
Canal Company,” with certain others to be
associated with them, but under the name and
style of the ‘‘Great Western Railway.” Among
the names of the associate directors will be
found those of Justin Butterfield, John B.
Turner, Mark Skinner and Henry Corwith.
The new board was reinstated with all the
powers and privileges contained in the first act,
the act repealing the charter to the contrary
notwithstanding. Many additional and valuable
privileges were conveyed by the state, includ-
ing a grant of the ‘right of way and of all the
work and surveying done at the expense of the
state. The new company was to expend at
least one hundred thousand dollars within three
years, and two hundred thousand dollars in
each year thereafter until the line was com-
pleted from the city of Cairo to the city of
Chicago.

The governor of the state was to hold in
trust, for the benefit of the company, whatever
lands might be donated by the general govern-

—~ -
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ment to the State of Illinois to aid in the con-
struction of the road, anticipating, as it were,
the action of the general government, the
question of a land-grant having already been
freely discussed in cengress.

Simultaneous with this, Judge Breese, from
the committee on public lands—of which he
was chairman during the last four years of his
term as senator—reported the following bill in
the United States senate, February 1, 1849:

“A bill to grant the right of way across
the public lands and to dispose of said land in
aid of the several states in the construction of
railroads and canals.

“Be it enacted by the senate and house of

‘representatives of the United Stales of America in

congress assembled, That whenever any state in
which public land is situated have, or shall
authorize the construction of any railroad or
canal, and the route of the same shall have
been surveyed and returned to the secretary of
the treasury, the right of way on said route, so
far as the same is situated on the public land, be
and the same is hereby granted for said purpose;
and also the right to take stone and timber and
materials for said erection on any of the public
land adjacent, so long as said land is unsold;
and the land for the space of one hundred feet
on each side of the middle of said route shall
be and remain for that purpose, so long as said
canal or railroad is sustained.

“SECTION 3. .And it is further enacted,
That when the survey of said route shall have
been returned to the secretary of the treasury,
he shall, at the request of the governor of said
state, reserve from public sale all or so much of
the public lands within ten miles of said route, as
said governor, by direction of the legislature of
said state, shall request, and the same shall be re-
tained for said state, and shall be sold and con-
veyed to said state or to whoever said state shall
direct, at and for the minimum price per acre, in
such quantities and at such times as said state
shall desire, in aid of said construction. Provided
nevertheless, that said route shall be so surveyed
and returned, and said land so reserved, within
three years from the passing of this law; and
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all of said land not actually so purchased and paid
for by said state, within ten years from the pass-
ing of this act, shall be subject to sale and
private entry in the same manner as if the same
had not been reserved. .4nd provided further,
that this shall not extend to any land but such
as is subject to private sale at one dollar and
twenty-five cenls per acre; and nothing in this
act contained shall be so construed as to grant
to any state such right of pre-emption to any land
heretofore set apart or reserved for schools,
nor to any public land which may have been
reserved by the United States for military or
other public purposes, nor to mineral lands,
nor to any to which a right of pre-emption may
previously have been acquired by any person
or persons.” This till passed the senate,
February 13, 1849—was presented in the house
by Jacob Collamer from Vermont—but met
with considerable opposition, and failed of pass-
age there. This bill also, it will be noticed,
contemplated only a pre-emption of lands.

As far back as 1848, Senator Douglas had
introduced a bill in the United States senate,
granting alternate sections of the public land
to the state of Illinois to aid in the construction
of a railroad from Cairo to Galena with a branch
to Chicago. This bill was reported from the
senate committee on public lands of which Sid-
ney Breese of Illinois was chairman. It was
subsequently taken up and early in May was
passed by the senate. The representatives in
the house from Illinois all gave it their cordial
support, but toward the close of the session it
was laid on the table by a small majority. At
the next session, 1848-9, Douglas again intro-
duced his bill in the senate, but before any
action was had in that body, the Illinois repre-
sentatives in the house had succeeded in having
the bill of the last session restored to its place
on the calendar; but congress adjourned with-
out any further action on the bill by the house.

In December 1849, Douglas, with his col-
league, Gen. James Shields, who had succeeded
Breese, and the Illinois delegation in the house
matured a bill looking to the construction of
the Illinois Central Road and its Chicago branch.

That bill, which all the Illinois members had a
voice in framing, was introduced in the senate
by Douglas in January 1850. During its pend-
ence in the senate, besides receiving the support
of the Illinois senators, it was advocated by
Henry Clay, William H. Seward, John C. Cal-
houn, William H. King, Thomas H. Benton
and Gen. Lewis Cass.

While the bill was pending, the Cairo City
& Canal Company induced the legislature of
Illinois to pass a measure ceding to that com-
pany all lands that might at any time be granted
by congress to the state, to aid in the construc-
tion of the Illinois Central Railroad. Senator
Douglas was still unwilling that the grant
should pass to a private corporation direct, and
finally induced Darius B. Holbrook of Cairo,
I11., the president of the Cairo City & Canal
Company to release to the state of Illinois all
the rights of that company, which he did, ex-
ecuting on Dec. 24, 1849, on behalf of his com-
pany as president, a full release and surrender
to the state of Illinois of what was known as
the Holbrook charter with all the rights and
privileges therein contained; in accordance with
which, the legislature on Dec. 17, 1851, passed
an act accepting this release and repealing all
the acts which they had before granted to this
company—Jan. 16, 1836, March 6, 1843 and
Feb. 10, 1849.

Judge Douglas in his letter to Judge Breese
of March 13, 1851, well says: ‘‘I can well con-
ceive that it might prove better for Mr. Hol-
brook and his partners, and more effectual for
their schemes of speculation for them to have
had a pre-emption than for the state to have
had a grant; but I apprehend that you will find
it difficult to convince any citizen of Illinois
who was not a partner in the speculation, that
it was better for the state notl lo have the lands
than to have them, or to be required to pay a dollar
and a quarter an acre for them, instead of recerv-
ing them for nothing under the act of last session.

The same act accepted the act of congress
of Sept. 20, 1850, granting the lands to the
state of Illinois to aid in the construction of a
railroad from Chicago to Mobile. The Mobile
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& Ohio Railroad was not however fully com-
pleted from Columbus, Kentucky, to Cairo,
until 1874. In 1872, the Illinois Central Rail-
road company extended its aid to the Mississippi
Central Railroad company, and that line was
extended from Jackson, Tennessee, to Fillmore,
a point nearly opposite Cairo; and thus for the
first time was completed an all rail communica-
tion from the lakes to the Gulf of Mexico.

The bill making a grant of lands to the
states of Illinois, Mississippi and Alabama,
passed the United States senate on May 2, 1850,
by a vote of 26 to 14, and was passed in the
house on Sept. 17, 1850, by a vote of 101 to
73. Mobile was inserted as the objective point
by Thomas Childs, Jr., of New York, who was
at that time largely interested in the Mobile &
Ohio Railroad company.

Hon. John Wentworth, in his ‘‘Congression-
al Reminiscences,” gives an interesting account
of the proceedings attending the passage of this
bill in the hou¥&-*and the state of Illinois is
largely indebted to him for the efforts he put
forward in that direction-=but the claim that he
once owned one-fourth of the capital of the
Illinois Central Railroad company, must be
regarded as an extravagance of speech. Hon.
George Ashmun of the Springfield district,
Mass., and a friend of Daniel Webster, distin-
guished himself among the non-resident sup-
porters of the bill. It was largely through his
influence in the house that the bill was passed.
On their return to Illinois at the close of the
session, Judge Douglas and Gen. Shields were
tendered a public dinner by the citizens of Chi-
cago in consideration of their services in obtain-
ing the passage of this act. In declining the
honor, they modestly awarded fo their colleagues
in the house the full measure of credi! for having
successfully carried the bill through to comple-
tion. John S. Wright of Chicago, worked
most faithfully to secure the land-grant from
congress to aid in the construction of the Cen-
tral Road. He wrote and had printed and dis-
tributed at his own expense, circulars stating
briefly the necessity of the road to the welfare
of the nation, and six thousand copies of peti-

tions to congress urging the passage of the act.
These petitions were prepared in three different
forms, so as to meet the wishes of the South,
the East and the state of Illinois, and set forth
the advantages to be gained by each section.
At that time, such documents were mailed free
to postmasters, and he kept a clerk busy for
weeks sending these to every postmaster be-
tween the lakes and the Gulf. The requests to
the postmasters to get signers and forward the
petitions to their congressmen were promptly
attended to, and the petitions came in by thou-
sands, and had much influence with members.
Wright also went to Washington and spent*
considerable time laboring for the passage of
the bill; he also published a pamphlet in which
he took the ground that the grant was of such
immense value, it should go direct to the state
and that it should hold the lands and build the
road from the proceeds of their sale. He wrote:
“the state would be everlastingly dishonored if
the legislature did not devise laws to build the
road, and disenthrall the state of its enormous
debt besides, out of the avails of this land grant.
The suggestion was not altogether unfeasible,
but it is exceedingly doubtful whether the state
could have carried out the project as success-
fully as a private corporation; judging retro-
spectively, it is fair to presume that it would
have made another and signal failure in such
an attempt.

On Sept. 20, 1850, the act passed by the
thirty-first congress, on the 17th of that month,
was approved, ‘‘granting the right of way and
making a grant of lands to the states of Illinois,
Mississippi and Alabama, in aid of the con-
struction of a railroad from the southern termi-
nus of the Illinois and Michigan Canal to a
point at or near the junction of the Ohio and
Mississippi rivers, Cairo, with a branch of the
same to Chicago, and another via the town of
Galena to Dubuque in the state of Iowa.”” Gov.
William H. Bissell, afterward a solicitor of the
company, was in the house at the time this act
was passed. This was accomplished after

*Address of Augustine W. Wright before the Chi-
cago Historicai Society.

LS
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repeated attempts had been made, beginning
in the year 1843, under the leadership of Sidney
Breese. George W. Jones, senator from Iowa,
suggested the amendment providing for the
termination at Dubuque.

In order to aid in the continuation of this
road from the mouth of the Ohio river to
Mobile, similar rights were conferred upon the
states of Alabama and Mississippi. Mobile
was the objective point on the south, and the
Mobile & Ohio Railroad participated in the
advantages of the grant, receiving its share of
the public lands through the states of Alabama
and Mississippi. The evident design was to
promote traffic, particularly in food products

First check used by the baggage department.

from Chicago and the Northwest and cotton
from the Gulf states to the South and to Europe

via Mobile, but the shallowness of the water in -

Mobile Bay and the consequent expense of
lighterage and of other charges was an insuper-
able objection to foreign shipments via that
point, and to this extent, the plan of connecting
the lakes with the gulf was a failure. The con-
struction of the jetties at the mouth of the
Mississippi river, at a later date, placed New
Orleans in a more favorable position. Besides
the immense traffic carried to that point by rail,
a large quantity of corn is shipped to the latter
city in barges from St. Louis for trans-shipment
abroad. The grant of lands referred to was to
cover alternate sections in even numbers within
six miles, if vacant lands to this extent could
be found; if not, then within fifteen miles. All
pre-emption rights were to be respected, and in
accordance with this provision, the Illinois

Central Railroad company afterward accepted
payment for such lands from actual settlers at
the government price. The act further provided
that the construction of the road should be com-
menced at Cairo on the south, and at the Illi-
nois and Michigan Canal on the north, simul-
taneously, and continued from each of said
points until completed, after which the branches
to Chicago and Dubuque, Iowa, were to be
extended. The provision, as to the extension
to Dubuque, was a singular one to apply to a
road that depended upon the state of Illinois for
its charter—it assumed that a bridge was to be
constructed across the Mississippi river between
Dunleith and Dubuque connecting the two

Exact size.

states, but made no requirement as to its con-
struction. In point of fact, this bridge was not
built until nineteen years after—in 1869—thir-
teen years after the railroad was completed,
and then under a separate charter.t Fifteen
years after its completion, the railroad company
acquired a controlling interest in it, thus fully
perfecting the original design of a continuous
railway from Cairo to Dubuque.*

t The Dunleith & Dubuque Bridge Company.

* October 13, 1867, the Illinois Central Railroad
company leased the Dubuque & Sioux City Railroad
extending from Dubuque to Iowa Falls, a distance of
143 miles, for twenty years with privilege of taking the
same in perpetuity. The lease included the Cedar
Falls & Minnesota Railroad extending from Waverly
north to Mona, a distance of 75} miles. A year later,
it leased, upon the same terms, the Iowa Falls & Sioux
City Railroad extending from Iowa Falls to Sioux City,
a distance of 184 miles. In 1887 it constructed the
Cherokee & Dakota Railroad from Onawa to Sioux
Falls, a distance of 155} miles, and the Cedar Rapids
& Chicago Railroad from Manchester to Cedar Rapids,
42 miles.
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The grant of land was to apply to the main
road and branches, respectively, in quantities
corresponding to the length of each, and only
to be disposed of as the work progressed. All
lands that had been previously granted to the
state in aid of the Illinois and Michigan Canal

were to be reserved from the operations of the.

Baggage check used by the Illinois Central
for many years.

act, and the price of these was to be increased
to double the minitmum price of government
lands. So that one effect of the grant was to
immediately enhance the value of the canal
lands. .
The grant from the United States govern-
ment was to go direct to the state of Illinois

.

for the purpose named. The railroad and
branches when completed were to remain a
‘“‘public highway”’ for the use of the government,
free from toll or other charge upon the trans-
portation of any property or troops of the
United States. That is to say—the use of the
road bed should be allowed the government,
but the railroad companies should not be obliged
to furnish equipment and men to handle the
business. Consequently it was mutually agreed,

Present check used by the Illinois Central baggage
department.

that the government should be entitled to a
reduction of thirty-three and one-third per cent
from the regular tariff rates on all transporta-
tion conducted for their account, this percent-
age representing the value of the use of the
highway or road bed. The United States
mails were also to be transported over the road
for such compensation as congress might direct.
In case the road was not completed within ten
years, the state of Illinois was to be required
to pay back to the United States the amount
which it might have received upon the sale of
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any part of the lands and to reconvey any lands
unsold.

In a small and dimly-lighted room at No. 1
Hanover Street, a little narrow street leading
out of Wall Street, in the city of New York in
the early spring of the year 1851, there met a
number of gentlemen who were known in law
as the incorporators of the Illinois Central
Railroad company. It was no new scheme that
they met to consider, but an old one they were
about to revive. In entering upon this great
work, they were not indulging in mere specula-
tion or experiment; many of them had been
connected with other successful enterprises and
this experience helped them to form a proper
judgment in the prosecution of the work they
were about to undertake. Probably no body of
incorporators, or directors as they afterward
became, was ever imbued with more earnest
determination, confident reliance, pride of
undertaking, and honesty of purpose. And it
may be added that no corporate body was ever
formed that was composed of men of more
indomitable energy, integrity of character,
business capacity, sagacity and foresight.
They were men who lived and moved in the
healthy atmosphere of commercial probity and

stood high in the estimation of their fellow-.

men. In social life, their established reputa-
tions gave them a standing among men that
could not be disputed. In the prosecution of
their trust, the interest of the shareholders
they represented was regarded as identical with
their own. The shareholders in turn appreci-
ated this and whatever mistakes were made
were promptly overlooked. This feeling of
mutual confidence strengthened the hands of
the board in all they undertook and gave char-
acter to the enterprise abroad. The enterprise
upon which they pinned their faith, they pro-
moted and sustained to a large extent with
their private fortunes. It is true that they had
much to stimulate them in their efforts—a
promise of two million and a-half of acres of
beautiful, rich and fertile prairie land was no
mean incentive to urge them on. Yet it cer-
tainly required no littlc amount of courage to

ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

take up a project that had already been three
times attempted, twice by organized corpora-
tions and once by the state of Illinois, each
time with the same result—disastrous failure.
But in this instance, whatever might be their
fate as individual investors, the benefit to be
conferred upon the state of Illinois by the suc-
cessful accomplishment of the work would not
be less marked. When the dark days of the
panic of 1857 overshadowed them, they might
have abandoned their trusts and sold their re-
spective interests for what they would bring,
but this would have been to them a poor sub-
stitution for the realization of their plans, and
such an idea does not seem tq have entered
their minds, They knew, moreover, that there
were those who had been induced to invest
their money in the enterprise because their
names had been identified with it, and they felt
that they were resting under a moral obligation
to save these from pecuniary loss if possible.

ORGANIZATION OF THE LAND DEPARTMENT.

All the requiremernts of the act of incor-
poration having been complied with, the deed
conveying the lands from the state of Illinois
to the Illinois Central Railroad company was
executed March 24, 1851, by his excellency
Augustus C. French, governor of the state.
Simultaneously with the delivery of the deed,
a deed of trust was executed by the president
of the company to Morris Ketchum, John
Moore and Samuel D. Lockwood, conveying
to them, in trust, all the lands granted by the
government of the United States under the act
of congress referred to, and all the other prop-
erty of the company, as security to the state
for the faithful performance of work to be
undertaken, and to secure the bonds to be
issued. This was an important trust and it was
of the utmost importance to the interests of
the state that it should be confided to those
who would wisely and faithfully administer it
on its behalf, and probably not in the whole
state of Illinois could there have been found
two more fit persons for this purpose than John
Moore and Samuel D. Lockwood.

-
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The state had the appointment of two
trustees of the lands and the railroad company
one; the latter selected Morris Ketchum of the
banking-house of Ketchum, Rogers and Bement
of New York, who was also the second treas-
urer of the company. He was a brother to
Hiram Ketchum, the celebrated lawyer. Mr.
Edward Bement of the same banking-house
being the first treasurer elected. Mr. Ketchum
was also connected with the locomotive works
of Rogers, Ketchum #hd Grosvenor of Pater-
son, New Jersey, who supplied the first one
hundred locomotives used by the company ; he
was also interested in the New York & New
Haven Railroad company, and was the author
of the plan of raising money on ‘‘preferred
stock,” the first issue of which was made by
that company during Mr. Ketchum’s connection
with it. It was a clever device invented to
enable railway companies to raise money with-
out increasing their mortgage debt, and, while
at the same time it apparently weakened, it did
not necessarily impair the value of the common
stock. The land-commissioners have been
John C. Dodge, who took part in the platting
and selection of the lands; John Wilson,
formerly land-commissioner of the general
land-office, Washington; John W. Foster,
author of the ‘‘Mound Builders,” and other ar-
chaeological works; Chas. M. Dupuy, Walter
M. Phillips, John B. Calhoun and Peter Daggy;
L. P. Morehouse is the present incumbent.
His long and faithful service in the engineering
department was rewarded by his appointment
as land-commissioner. Mr. Daggy, though re-
tired as commissioner upon a liberal pension,
still continues to act as secretary of the land
department.

Of the lands entrusted to them, the soil
for the most part was of a rich, black, deep
mould, of unsurpassed fertility, capable of
producing in the greatest abundance wheat,
rye, corn, oats and fruits and vegetables of all
kinds. But, with all their productiveness, the
quarries and mineral wealth had remained com-
paratively unsettled and uncultivated until this
road was constructed, and would have continued

so in all probability for many years to come,
but for the facilities of travel and transportation
furnished by it. These lands had been in the
market subject to private entry for a third of a
century at a mere nominal value, and yet in
very few instances were purchasers found for
them. Remote from markets, without facilities
for transportation, and with roads almost im-
passable, the cost of handling the products of
the lands to a market, and the time employed
therein, amounted almost to as much as the
value of the land.

The total grant of land to the state of"Illi-
nois was 2,594,115 acres which were donated
to the company, being at the rate of 3700 acres
per mile. The grant of lands referred to was
not, strictly speaking, the first act of congress
making a grant of lands directly and specifically
to aid railroad building, but was among the
first in importance. Of the land donated by
the state to the Illinois Central Railroad com-
pany, 107,614 acres were first conveyed to pre-
emption claimants. Gov. Joel A. Matteson, in
his inaugural message to the eighteenth gencral
assembly, convened Jan. 3, 1853, referring to
this, says: ‘I have not heard that any settler
upon the company’s land has had occasion to
complain, but, on the contrary, when the time
by law had passed for proving pre-emptions
upon the company’s land by the settler upon
the lands, the company took no advantage and
allowed the lands to be entered on proof being
made, the same as if directed by law. This
course pursued in, can not fail to awaken in
the minds of the people of this state strong
feelings of reciprocal good-will.”” The rapid
settlement of the railroad lands stimulated the
sale of the government lands, alternate sections,
which for years had been in market, but re-
mained unsold, though for a considerable time
they could have been obtained with land-
warrants at about one-half the government
price. After the location of the Illinois Cen-
tral Railroad, a large portion of them were
immediately sold for from $2.50 to $5 an acre,
and the line of the road began to fill up with
hardy and enterprising settlers, enabling the



ILLINOIS CENTRAL RAILROAD COMPANY

24

*VMO] ‘O0OTIILVA| LV SdOHS TVILNI)) SIONITI] GHL 40 MAIA IAISAAIG



AND REPRESENTATIVE EMPLOYES. 25

government to close its land-offices. Up to
January 1, 1890, of the lands donated to the
company, 2,456,829 acres had been disposed of
to about 30,000 actual settlers, yielding $28,-
742,002.93. The population of the state when
the grant was made was 851,470. The popula-
tion of Chicago was less than 40,000. By the
recent census (1900) it is found to be nearly
2,000,000.

The landed interest seemed for a time to
be regarded as of greater importance and value
than the railroad itself. Said a member of the
English Parliament—the Hon. Lawrence Hey-
worth of Liverpool—who visited Illinois in
1856, and went over the line of railway shortly
after its completion, ‘‘This is not a railway
company ; it is a land company,” and so im-
pressed was he with the future value of the

lands, that he went back to New York and gave

his bankers a carte-blanche to purchase all the
Illinois Central Railroad company’s shares that
_ were offered for sale, and they did not stop
purchasing until they had acquired for his
account an interest amounting to over $1,000,-
000. I mention this to show how pleasing a
picture the beautiful open prairies of our state
presented to the eye of a foreigner at that time,
and what a deep impression they made upon
his mind. But Mr. Heyworth failed to reap
pecuniary advantage from his investment, for
the reason that, like the projectors already
referred to, he hagl anticipated too much. The
country indeed made the railroad, but the rail-

road did not respond quickly enough in making

the country. The promise of the enormous
traffic, that it was believed these lands would
supply to the railway, was not fulfilled soon
enough to yield sufficient revenue to meet the
early matured interest on the debt. The esti-
mates and predictions made by the friends of
the road told a flattering tale of wealth, and
indeed they were all realized, but not within
the time expected. The difficulty was that
these rich promises pre-supposed a larger emi-
gration to the state and a more rapid settlement

upon the lands than could possibly take place

within the time specified. The cry went out to

the farmers of England, Germany, Sweden,
Norway, Holland, and other countries, at the
cost of many thousands of dollars, to come
over and settle in this new and beautiful coun-
try, but for a time it was scarcely heeded.
Special agents were employed to go to these
countries to explain the advantages of settling
in our state, and pamphlets printed in their
respective languages, describing the attractive-
ness of the country and the fertility of its soil,
were scattered broadcast over Europe. The
dismal failure of Morris Birkbeck and others to
establish English colonies in Illinois was still
fresh in the minds of many of the English
farmers, and, with few exceptions, they could
not be induced to leave the mother country.
The kind words spoken of Illinois by Birkbeck
in his ‘“‘Letters from Illinois,” and ‘‘Notes on a
Journey to America,”’ both published in 1818,
were savagely attacked by other Englishmen
who warned their countrymen not to be deluded
by his statements. Later on, however, many
Scandinavians, Poles and a few Germans and
Russians, found their way over and located
upon these lands, but for the most part they
were settled by people from the adjoining, and
older eastern states, who were perhaps better
qualified to judge of their resources and could
cultivate them to greater advantage.

MEMORIAL FOR CHARTER.

On January 15, 1851, Governor Augustus
C. French sent a communication to the house
of representatives transmitting a memorial of
which the following is a copy :*

*Although this was the only plan for the comple-
tion of the road submitted to the legislature, another
lan was seriously agitated by some of the leading men
in the state in conjunction with certain men in New
York, who had figured considerably in Illinois matters,
and a bill was prepared in accordance therewith. The
design was to have the state virtually control the road,
and one of the provisions of the bill was that the stock
should be made a basis for banking under any law
establishing a general system of banking. There were
other curious provisions which are interesting as show-
ing the condition of things at that time, and especially
the opinions of men as to the best means of raising
millions of money by a bankrupt state. The press of
the state discountenanced the project and favored giv-
ing the lands to actual settlers. ‘The bill for this pro-
ject may be found in the Chicago Daily Democrat of
January 11, 1851,
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““To the honorable the senators and representatives
of the people of the state of Illinois in general
assembly convened.:

““The memorial of Robert Schuyler, George
Griswold, Gouverneur Morris, Jonathan Sturges,
Thomas W. Ludlow and John F. A. Sanford of
the city of New York; and of David A. Neal,
Franklin Haven and Robert Rantoul, Jr., of the
city of Boston and vicinity, respectfully repre-
sents:

‘““That, having examined and considered an
act of congress of the United States, whereby
land is donated by the United States for the
purpose of insuring the construction of a rail-
road from Cairo, at the mouth of the Ohio river,
to Galena and the northwestern angle of the
state of Illinois, with a branch extending to
Chicago on Lake Michigan, on certain con-
ditions, therein expressed; and, having exam-
ined also the resources of the tract of country
through which it is proposed that the said rail-
road shall pass, and the amount of cost, and
the space of time necessary for constructing the
same, the subscribers propose to form a com-
pany, with such others as they may associate
with them, including ameong their number per-
sons of large experience in the construction of
several of the principal railroads of the United
States, and of means and credit sufficient to
place beyond doubt their ability to perform
what they hereinafter propose, make the follow-
ing offer to the state of Illinois for their con-
sideration :

*“The company so formed by the subscribers
will, under the authority and direction of the
state of Illinois, fully and faithfully perform
the several conditions, and execute the trusts,
in the said act of congress contained. And will
build a railroad with branches between the Zer-
mini set forth in said act, with a single track,
and complete the same, ready for the transpor-
tation of merchandise and passengers, on or
before the fourth day of July, which will be in
the year of our Lord, eighteen hundred and
fifty-four. And the said railroad shall be, in
all respects, as well and thoroughly built as
the railroad running from Boston to Albany,

with such improvements thereon as experience
has shown to be desirable and expedient, and
shall be equipped in a manner suitable to the
business to be accommodated thereby. And
the said company, from and after the comple-
tion of the said road, will pay to the state of
Illinois, annually,—* per cent of the gross
earnings of the said railroad, without deduction
or charge for expenses, or for any other matter
or cause; provided, that the state of Illinois
will grant to the subscribers a charter of incor-
poration, with terms mutually advantageous
with powers and limitations, as they, in their
wisdom, may think fit, as shall be accepted by
said company, and as will sufficiently remuner-
ate the subscribers for their care, labor and
expenditure in that behalf incurred, and will
enable them to avail themselves of the lands
donated by the said act to raise the funds, or
some portion of the funds, necessary for the
construction and equipment of said railroad.
“ROBERT SCHUYLER,
GEORGE GRISWOLD,
GOUVERNEUR MORRIS,
of Morrisania,
FrRANKLIN HAVEN,
Dav. A. NEearL,
RoBeERrT RANTOUL, JR.,
JONA. STURGES,
THos. W. LubpLow,
JoHN F. A. SANFORD.

“December 28, 1850.”

It was laid on the table and ordered to be
printed.

On January 14, 1851, Asahel Gridley intro-
duced in the senate a bill for an “‘act to incor-
porate the Illinois Central Railroad company,”’
which was referred to the committee on internal
improvements. After various decisions and
references from day to day, James L. D.
Morrison, on February 5, following, offered a
substitute for the original bill, to which various
amendments were offered, and, on the next
day, February 6, it was finally passed in the
senate by a vote of 23 to 2. Four days later—

. * John Wentworth said that it was proposed to fill
this in ten per cent but that he opposed it.
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February 10, 1851, it passed the house of repre-
sentatives by a vote of 72 to 2. The final pas-
sage of the bill was celebrated in Chicago by
the firing of cannon and other demonstrations
in honor of the event. That clause in the char-
ter making the governor of the state an cx-
officio officer was suggested by John Went-
worth.

The incorporators named were, George
Griswold, Franklin Haven, David A Neal,
Jonathan Sturges, Joseph W. Alsop, Robert
Rantoul, Jr., John F. A. Sanford, Leroy M.
Wiley, Robt. Schuyler, Henry Grinnell, William
H. Aspinwall, Thomas W. Ludlow and Gou-
verneur Morris. The four last named never
took a very active part in the affairs of the
company. Of the others who formed a part of
the first board of directors, the most active and
prominent were Messrs. Sturges, Alsop, Gris-
wold, Neal and Sanford.

The act was accepted by the company,
March 19, 1851. The charter was a special one,
and in its bearing upon the future welfare and
prosperity of the state, probably the most im-
portant it ever granted. It conferred—as was
supposed at the time—valuable privileges, al-
though it exacted unusual benefits in return.
Among the privileges granted were those con-
tained in the eighth section, which authorized
the board of directors to establish such rates of
toll for the conveyance of persons and property
as they should, from time to time, determine.
A singular provision in relation to this right to
fix rates was, that it was to be governed by the
by-laws of the company. The language of the
charter is, ‘‘as they shall from time to time by
their by-laws determine.” Ordinarily, the ob-
ject of a by-law is to serve as a regulation of a
society or corporation in a manner agreed upon
by the members, but, as rates of transportation
are necessarily frequently changed, to make
them valid and binding in this particular case,
would necessitate as frequent a change of the
by-laws, and as this could only be done by the
board of directors, it would require an assembl-
ing of that body so often as to practically make
it a freight and passenger department of the

company. Had any one of the corporators
supposed for a moment, that the day would
ever come when this right to fix rates would be
questioned, and that the highest court in the
land would decide that the police power of the
state must override the right to fix rates, it is
very doubtful whether the charter would have
been accepted at the time it was, and the road
would not probably have been constructed for
many years after. ’

The work of constructing 700 consecutive
miles of railroad was about to be commenced.
Although overshadowed by more modern
achievements, it was a gigantic undertaking
for that day, and not a few of those who had
witnessed previous failures, believed that a
similar fate awaited this. The mortgage upon
2,000,000 acres of the lands and the property of
the company, to secure an issue of construc-
tion bonds amounting to $17,000,000, was exe-
cuted September 13, 1851. Of these, $5,000,000
were negotiated in London, and such was the
confidence reposed in the directory of the com-
pany that the bonds were eagerly taken up at a
premium before construction work was fairly
commenced. The bonds carried with them the
right to subscribe to the share capital in the
proportion of ten shares to each bond, and as
the outlook for the shares was very promising
at the time, this proved a very popular feature.
At this time, the bonds of the state of Illinois
were selling at a large discount, so that in the
Eastern states confidence in any Illinois project
was too limited to command any financial aid
in that direction. At this time and for many
years after, foreign capital was sought to carry
out all the leading enterprises in the West.

Among the first and largest expenditures
made were those for procuring the right of way
into the city of Chicago. This difficult task
was entrusted to James F. Joy and Mason Bray-
man. General Brayman wrote me on Novem-
ber 14, 1890, as follows: ‘‘My relation to the
projectors of the Illinois Central Railroad began
in the autumn of 1850. My retainer as their
professional adviser dates November 10, 1850.
* % * The history of the company so far as
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relates to Illinois, and especially to Chicago,
during the contention for entrance on the Lake
Front was almost dramatic in its incidents.”
On June 14, 1852 (Walter Smith Gurnee,
being then mayor of the city) an ordinance was
procured from the common council of the city
of Chicago, granting permission to the company
“to lay down, construct and maintain within
the limits of the city, and along the margin of
the lake within and adjacent to the same, a
railroad with one or more tracks.” This ordin-
ance was confirmed by an agreement entered
into between the railroad company and the city

by purchase and through condemnation pro-
ceedings. The company afterward acquired by
purchase most of the riparian rights pertaining
to the lands.

On March 22, 1851, the board of directors
by a unanimous resolution appointed Roswell
B. Mason of Bridgeport, Conn., engineer-in-
chief with jurisdiction over the entire line. No
person could have been selected better qualified
for the work. Mr. Mason was born Sept. 19,
1805, in the town of New Hartford, Oneida
county, New York. In 1822-3 he was in the
engineering department of the Erie Canal; in

THE LARGEST LOCOMOTIVE IN THE WORLD.

GENERAL DIMENSIONS:—Cylinders, 23 inches in Diameter x 30 inch stroke.
Weight on drivers, 193,200 pounds; weight on trucks, 39,000

meter. Boiler, front end, 82 inches in Diameter.

Driving wheels, 57 inches in Dia-

pounds; total weight, 232,200 pounds. Tender, loaded, 132,700 pounds.

of Chicago March 28, 1853. Lands for depot
purposes, north of Randolph street, were ac-
quired by purchase from the United States
government and from private owners,* and the
right of way south of Park Row was obtained

* Various and persistent attempts have been made
by different parties representing the heirs of Jean
Baptiste Beaubien, Mark Noble and others, to get
possession of the lands in fractional southwest quarter
of section 10, extending north and south of Randolph
street.

April 5, 1872, under a special act of congress,
there was issued to Thos. B. Valentine and wife, of
San Francisco, scrip for about 13,000 acres of land, in
pieces of forty acres each, in consideration of their
having quitclaimed to the United States a similar quan-
tity of land in the county of Sonoma, near the city of
San Francisco, to which Valentine had acquired some
title, These lands were included in what was known

as the ‘‘Miranda Grant’’ (granted in 1844 to Juan
Miranda, and from whom Valentine had received his
tiftle) , which the government had inadvertently disposed
of.
The scrip received from the government was
locatable on any public lands (not mineral) unappro-
riated and unoccupied. October 18, 1875, Valentine
led a claim in the land-office at Springfield, Ill., on
fractional section 10, claiming that it was public land
and that he was entitled to a patent therefor. This
was the first location attempted on the company’s
depot-grounds under ‘‘Valentine Scrip.”’ Feb. 12,
1878, he ap!plied to the commissioner of the general
land-office for a patent; the application was allowed,
and the patent ordered to be issued. An appeal was
taken by the city of Chicago (which claimed an interest
in a portion of the ground) to the secretary of the
interior, Hon. Carl Schurz. February 28, 1879, the
secretary reversed the decision of the commissioner, on
the ground that no part of section 10 was ‘‘public land”’
upon which scrip of such character could be located;
that it could only be located upon ‘‘lands that are in a
state of nature.’’
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1824 was assistant engineer on the Schuylkill
Canal; in 1825 was assistant engineer on the
Morris Canal and until 1831, when he took
charge of part of the Pennsylvania Canal. In
1833 he became superintendent of the Morris
Canal, and left it in 1837, when he became
chief engineer of the Housatonic Railroad, and
held that position and thaf of superintendent
until 1848. From 1848-51 he was chief engi-
neer and superintendent of the New York &
New Haven Railroad.

He commenced his journey to Illinois on
May 14, 1851, accompanied by a corps of engi-
neers. Their route west was as follows: by
steamer from New York to Albany, thence by
railroad to Buffalo, by steamer from Buffalo
across Lake Erie to Detroit, by railroad thence
to New Buffalo on the east side of Lake Mich-
igan—the Michigan Central Railroad, at that
time, being completed only to this point—and
thence by steamer to Chicago; arriving through
in about five days. A few days after his
arrival, he organized several surveying parties,
divided the line into working divisions and
appointed over each a competent. division
engineer, the work being apportioned as fol-
lows:

N. B. Porter, from Chicago to Rantoul.

L. W. Ashley, from Rantoul to Mattoon.

C. Floyd Jones, from Mattoon to Main-

Line Junction, and north of Centralia and
the main line from Ramsey’s Creek to
Richview.

Arthur S. Ormsby, from Richview to Cairo.

H. B. Plant, from Ramsey’s Creek to

Bloomington.

Timothy B. Blackstone, from Bloomington

to Eldena.

B. B. Provost, from Eldena to Dunleith.

B. G. Roots had charge of surveying

parties between the Big-Muddy river and
the Ohio & Mississippi Railroad.

Nearly all the important bridges on the
line were constructed by Stone & ‘Boomer,
bridge builders, of Chicago.

Shortly after Col. Mason’s arrival in Chi-
cago, he was joined by Mr. John B. Calhoun

of Bridgeport, Conn., who had been connected
with the Housatonic Railroad company, and
who took charge of the accounts and finances.
Col. Mason, writing of him several years after,
says: ‘‘He was a competent, faithful and reli-
able man.’” Mr. Calhoun remained in the ser-
vice of the company for many years and became
its land-commissioner. He was a genial and
courteous gentleman, unpretentious and thor-
oughly honest, and a man of such an ingenuous
nature that he despised anything like deception.
Millions of dollars passed through his hands
during the work of construction without the
loss of a cent to the company. Very heavy
settlements had to be made with contractors
during the progress of the work, and most of
these were made by Mr. Calhoun personally,
in the capacity of paymaster. As currency
was scarce in the state and most of that in cir-
culation was practically irredeemable, it was
necessary to send to the eastern banks to pro-
cure a monthly supply. In this way the notes
of many of the Hartford banks were put in
circulation along the line; but as these banks
all redeemed in specie, it was not long before
they found their way back for redemption.

Mr. Calhoun named almost all the stations
that were opened for business on the road after
its completion. The names are mostly of Indian
origin, but a few were named in a peculiar
manner. ‘‘Tolono,” for example, was con-
structed by placing the vowel o thrice repeated,
and alternating arbitrarily with the three conso-
nants which the word contains, producing a
name sufficiently unique.

On March 16, 1853, in addition to his other
duties, Mr. Mason was charged with the care
of the transportation department of the com-
pany’s road, covering such portions of the line
as were completed and in operation, with addi-
tional title of general-superintendent, and in
March 1855 additional executive powers were
granted him in Illinois.

In the early prosecution of the work, great
difficulty was experienced in procuring laborers;.
the country through which the line was surveyed
was of course entirely unsettled. Southerly
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from Chicago for about 130 miles, it was an
almost unbroken prairie, inhabited only by deer,
wolves and other wild animals, with no settle-
ment in view. There were not half a dozen
places on the entire line of sufficient import-
ance to be known on the map of the state; so
that men had to be brought a great distance to
do the work and they had to be cared for along
the line. Indeed with the exception of LaSalle
and Galena on the main line, and Jonesboro in
southern Illinois near the line, there were no
places of importance along the proposed route.
Nearly 80,000 tons of iron rails of a superior
quality had been purchased in England by
Capt. David A. Neal, the vice-president, and
these began to arrive early in 1852. There
were no rail-mills of importance in this country
at that time. The cost of the rails purchased
ranged from $38.50 to $43.50 per ton, f. o. b., at
Wales or Liverpool. These rails were for the
most part exceptionally good in quality, and
some of them were in track for thirty years; a
much longer period than the steel rails now
manufactured will last under ordinary traffic.
Considerable portion of the line was located
and construction was well under way by the
fall of 1851. Maps and profiles were prepared
and these were deposited with the commissioner
of the general land-office at Washington, as
required by law, in February 1852. The final
approval of location and selection of lands was
secured a month later. The last contract was
let Oct. 13, 1852. In May 1853 the first portion
of the road from LaSalle to Bloomington, 61
miles, was put in operation, a temporary
bridge was erected over the Illinois river, and
cars were hauled to the top of the bluff with
ropes and chains by means of a stationary
engine. In July 1854, 128 miles of the Chicago
branch from Chicago to Urbana were finished
and trains were running. A few years after-
ward the company donated $50,000 toward the
construction of the industrial college at this
point, now known as the Illinois University.
In November of the same year the communi-
cation from Freeport to Galena was completed.
In the same month for the first time, passen-

gers were carried from Chicago to Cairo wia
Chicago & Mississippi Railroad to St. Louis,
thence east by the Ohio & Mississippi Railroad
to Sandoval on the main line of the Illinois
Central Railroad, from which point the road
was then open to Cairo, a distance of 118
miles.

The writer was a passenger on the first
train that passed through southern Illinois to
Cairo and remembers well how the ‘‘Egyptians”
turned out to witness the novel sight, to them,
of a locomotive engine and train of cars. They
lined the track on both sides at every station,
the men dressed in their snuff-colored jeans,
and the women with gaudy-colored calicoes,
check-aprons and big sun-bonnets. They stood
dumb with amazement. Many of them looked
as though they had come out ‘between the
shakes’’ of fever and ague.

When the road was located not a single
railroad track crossed the right of way between
Chicago and Cairo, a distance of 365 miles.
The first work put under contract was that por-
tion of the line extending from Chicago to
what was then known as Calumet Station, now
called Kensington. This was done in order to
enable the Michigan Central trains to enter the
city, and that company made a temporary loan
to the Illinois Central Company to enable the
latter to complete this fourteen miles more
promptly. Their first train passed over this
new track on May 20, 1852, running north as
far as Thirteenth street, where a temporary
passenger depot was constructed and which
was used for nearly a year thereafter. The
road from about Sixteenth street to Randolph
street was afterward constructed upon piles
driven in the bed of the lake, and this piling
was maintained until shortly after the great
fire of 1871, when the right of way was filled
with debris from the fire.

The line into Chicago was originally located
through section 10, T. 39, N. R. 14, east of 3d
p. m., to the Chicago river, so that north of
Randolph street it passed through a portion of
Fort Dearborn addition then owned by the
United States government. The map showing
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the location was filed in the general land-office
at Washington, the local land-office at Spring-
field and in the registry of deeds for Cook
county. The company claimed a right of way
through section 10, north of Randolph street,
under the act of congress of Aug. 4, 1852,
entitled, ‘‘An act to grant the right of way to
all rail and plank roads and macadamized turn-
pikes passing through the public lands belong-
ing to the United States incorporated by any
of the states.”” That act gave such a right for
ten years after its passage. The company,
however, acquired the right of way through
section 10, from the United States government
by purchase on Oct. 14, 1852, at a cost of $45,-
000 which was then a very high price. After-
ward the railroad company brought suit against
the United States for the repayment of the
moneys paid for the land acquired in Fort Dear-
born addition, on the ground that the act of
congress applied to the lands reserved by the
government for military purposes as well as
other public lands, but the court of claims
decided adversely to the railroad company.

The Baltimore & Ohio Railroad did not
enter the city over the Illinois Central tracks
until Nov. 17, 1874.

That portion of the ‘‘main line,” as it was
called between Cairo and LaSalle, a distance
of 300.99 miles, was completed Jan. 8, 1855.

With its southern terminal in close proxim-
ity to Dixie’s land, the road offered ready
means of escape for slaves, of which many
were not slow to avail themselves whenever
the opportunity offered. This they did by
crossing the river at Bird’s Point, Kentucky, to
Cairo, and secreting themselves in freight cars
or under passenger coaches just prior to their
departure for the north. When discovered, if
the conductor of the train happened to be friend-
ly to the slave, his escape was winked at, but
in a few instances they were returned to their
masters, under the law as it existed at that
time.*

Up to Oct. 29, 1889, the transfers of freight
and passengers between the north end of the

* Fugitive-slave law, repealed June 13, 1864.

New Orleans line and the Illinois Central at
Cairo, were made by transfer steamers which
conveyed the cars from one point to another,
but on this date the Cairo bridge was opened
for traffic, forming a continuous rail route from
Chicago to New Orleans, a distance of 938
miles. The length of the bridge is 3 miles and
4,720 feet, and its cost to date has been about
$2,700,000, which will be further increased by
expenditures in the way of filling approaches
and of additional tracks.

The Galena branch, LaSalle to Dunleith, a

distance of 146.73 miles, was completed June
12, 185S.

The city of Galena in 1850 lay principally
on the north bank of the river, and had in that
year a population of 6000; the whole population
of Jo Daviess county was only 18,600. The
road was located at first on the south side,
because of very hostile opposition on the part
of the people of Galena, to the extension of
the line across the river, owing to a fear that
their trade would be injured, which at that time
was quite large. After the bridge was con-
structed across the river by the railway com-
pany, one of the old settlers sat at the south
end and swore that he would shoot the first
engineer who attempted to cross; a little kindly
persuasion on the part of some of the more
conservative citizens induced him to retract
this oath.

Some idea of the value and magnitude of
the business of the city may be gathered from
the following table of exports for 1851:

Lead, - - 33,082,190 pounds,
value $1,417,151.
Flour, - - - 39,385 barrels.
Barley, - - - 42,731 bushels.
Pork, - - - 3,185 barrels.
Lard, - - - 125,000 pounds.
Bacon, - - 312,568 pounds.
Butter, - - - 87,618 pounds.
Eggs, - - - 22,880 dozen.
Hides and skins, - 9,326
Horses, - - - 800 head.
Cattle, - - - 1,500 head.
Lumber, - - 5,085,684 feet.
Shingles, - - 2,470,000 bundles.
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The town was laid out in 1827 and incor-
porated as a city in 1839.

The fear, as to constructing a railway
through the city, was certainly well founded,
for the completion of the road to Dunleith—
now called East Dubuque—17 miles north,
proved almost the ruin of Galena as a business
centre; the trade being transferred to Dubuque.
The road from Galena to Dunleith was opened
Monday, June 11, 1855; and the first passenger
train passed through on that day. No railways
were at this time constructed from Dubuque
west, and all the merchandise for the upper
Mississippi and the northwest was transferred
to steamers at Dunleith, where large and sub-
stantial stone warehouses were erected to
receive and store it. This gave for the time
being quite an impetus to the place; the price
of city lots rapidly advanced; a fine, large
hotel, called the ‘“‘Argyle House,” which many
old Illinoisans remember well, was erected by
Frederick S. Jesup, a banker of Dubuque,
besides many stores and dwellings.

A connection with Chicago at Freeport was
made by using the tracks of the Galena & Chi-
cdgo Union Railroad, which, in 1864 became a
part of the Northwestern Railway system.
When the Chicago & Iowa Railroad was built
in 1872, from Aurora to Forreston on the main
line, its tracks were used and the arrangement
via Freeport discontinued. The Chicago branch
between Chicago and the junction with the
main line, a distance of 249.78 miles, was com-
pleted September 26, 1856.% Sections of the
different divisions were operated as fast as
completed.

On Saturday, September 27, 1856, Col.
Roswell B. Mason, engineer-in-chief, having
been notified that the last rail was laid on the
705.5 miles of road and that the construction of
the Illinois Central Railroad commenced Decem-
ber 25, 1851, was an ‘accomplished fact, im-
mediately sent a dispatch to the board of direct-

*The original plan was to have the Chicago branch
leave the main line at a point between Decatur and
Vandalia.
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ors in New York informing them of the circum-
stance.

. Shortly after he tendered his resignation
to the board and it was reluctantly accepted.
In 1861 he was appointed comptroller of the
land-department and retained that position
until 1867.° In 1865 he was appointed by the
state legislature one of the members of the
Chicago board of public works to superintend
the lowering of the summit of the Illinois and
Michigan Canal. In 1869 he was elected mayor
of the city of Chicago, and held that office at
the timé of the great fire, Oct. 9, 1871.

In 1857 what was known as the Peoria &
Oquawka Railroad was constructed from Gil-
man on the Chicago branch to El Paso on the
main line, thus forming a connection between
these two important divisions. The Gilman,
Clinton & Springfield Railroad, connecting the
branch with the capital of the state, was opened
for business on December 3, 1871.

The early estimates as to the cost of con-
struction of the Illinois Central Railroad proved
erroneous: it was supposed that the proceeds
of the $17,000,000 of mortgage debt created,
secured by 2,000,000 acres of land, would be
amply sufficient to construct the road, and that,
immediately upon its completion, the traffic
offering would yield sufficient revenue to pay
the interest on the bonds issued so that no
large contribution from share capital would be
necessary; but this proved a disappointment,
and it was found necessary to call in not only
the entire amount of the share capital, but to
increase the capital, all of which was paid up
in full. The charter provided that the capital
stock should be $1,000,000, which might be
increased from time to time to any sum not
exceeding the entire amount expended on
account of the road. The capital was fixed at
$17,000,000, corresponding to the amount of
the mortgage debt, but this has been gradually
increased to meet the necessities of the com-
pany. It is now $60,000,000. The dependence
placed upon the value of the lands granted also
proved a disappointment. The entire proceeds
of these, so far as received, during the construc-
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tion of the line and until its completion were

not sufficient to make up the deficiency in in-

terest on the funded debt.

_To refer again to the clause in the charter
of the company requiring the payment of a tax
- of seven per cent on the gross earnings, its
great importance to the state may be better
understood when it is stated that, up to April
30, 1899, no less than the enormous sum of
$17,652,930.00 has ‘been paid into the state
treasury under this requirement. It may not

be uninteresting to the tax-payers of Illinois to -

show what this sum practically represents in
assets of the State. In arecent report prepared
by Hon. C. W. Pavey, state auditor for the
United States census department, the value of
public buildings owned by the state is shown as
follows:

State-house, Springfield, - - - $4,000,000
Northern Insane Hospital, Elgin, - - 535,000
Eastern Insane Hospital, Kankakee, - 1,211,000
Central Insane Hospital, Jacksonville, - 800,000

Southern Insane Hospital, Anna, - - 643,000
Institution, Deaf and Dumb, Jacksonville, 385,000

Institution for the Blind, Jacksonville, - 171,000
Asylum for Feeble-Minded, Lincoln, - 182,000
Soldiers’ Orphans’ Home, Normal, - - 148,000

Charitable Eye and Ear Infirmary, Chicago, 84,000

State Reform School, Pontiac, - - 220,000
Soldiers and Sailors’ Home, Quincy, - 235,000
Northern Penitentiary, Joliet, - - 1,500,000
Southern Penitentiary, Chester, - - 750,000
Normal University, Normal, - - - 250,000
Illinois University, Urbana, - - - 270,000
Southern University, Carbondale, - 200,000
Executive Mansion, Springfield, - - 50,000
Supreme Court, Ottawa, - - - 50,000
Supreme Court, Mount Vernon, - - 55,000
State-Arsenal, Springfield, - - - 15,000

$11,754,000

In the constitution of 1870, the following
reference is made to the payment of this tax:
“No contract, obligation or liability whatever,
of the Illinois Central Railroad company to pay
any money into the state treasury, nor any lien
of the state upon, or right to tax property of,
said company in accordance with the provisions
of the charter of said company, approved
February 10, in the year of our Lord 1851,

shall ever be released, suspended, modifie
altered, remitted or in any manner diminish
or impaired by legislative or other authorit;
and all moneys derived from said compan
after the paying of the State debt, shall t
appropriated and set apart for the payment «
the ordinary expenses of the state governmen
and for no other purpose whatever."

The act of 1869, known as the Lake Fror
act, contains this clause: ‘‘This act shall nc
be construed nor have the effect to release th
Illinois Central Railroad company from th
payment into the treasury of the state of Ill
nois of the per centum on the gross or tot:
proceeds, receipts or incomes derived fror
said road and branches stipulated in the charte
of said company.”’

The year 1861 was a memorable one in th:
history of the Illinois Central Railroad. Te:
years had elapsed since its charter was obtained
The road was fully completed and thoroughly
equipped, but the results of ‘operating it were
disappointing. In April of that year, the gov
ernment placed a force of troops at Cairo.
Communication with the south being prohib.
ited, the through business was cut off, and the
interests of the company suffered for a time
both in the loss of traffic and the failure of the
farmers to pay for their lands. To add to the
difficulty, the bank issues in Illinois were large-
ly based upon the securities of the southern
states. The overthrow of this currency caused
the withdrawal of $12,000,000 of paper from
circulation with great loss to the holders. The
tax payable to the state upon the gross earnings
was, at that time, payable in gold, and the
company was obliged to pay a premium of
twenty-five per cent for a draft on New York,
payable in coin. As the farmers indebted to
the company could not meet the payments due
on their lands in cash, the land-department
adopted the alternative of accepting pay from
them in corn, with which their cribs were over-
flowing. Commencing August 1, in that year,
there were received 1,860,000 bushels of corn
for lands, and a large quantity was received in
the following year.
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With the necessities growing out of the
war, sorghum, or Chinese sugar cane, began to
be successfully cultivated in Illinois in 1861,
and about 1,500,000 gallons of syrup were pro-
duced. Cotton was also raised to a consider-
able extent in southern Illinois, the price of
that staple having reached one dollar per pound.
Many of the settlers on the company’s lands in

COURTESY OF "VIAT!IIOO COUVRIER. "

hay and oat crops of 1861-2 were unusually
good, and the prices of these products advanced.
The demand from the south, though not of the
character looked for, was very great, and all
the corn, oats and hay that could be transported
to Cairo, found a ready purchaser at extraordi-
narily high prices in the person of Uncle Sam’s
quartermaster. Corn sold at one time at $1.50

WATERPOWER DAM AT WATERLOO, Iowa.

southern Illinois were from the south, and
were, therefore, familiar with the cultivation
of both these products.

The loss of the southern traffic was soon
compensated for in the extraordinary impetus
given to every branch of business by the equip-
ment and movement of the vast number of
men placed in the field. It is estimated that in
Illinois alone that year 65,000 men were with-
drawn from the ordinary occupations of civil
life to engage in warlike pursuits. The corn,

per bushel at Cairo and hay and oats were cor-
respondingly high.

The offerings of freight were beyond the
carrying capacity of the line: and traffic was
tendered at various points, with a certainty that
it could not be moved, in order that claims for
damages for refusal to receive might be made.
Several hundred thousand dollars were paid
out on this account. The movements of troops
and munitions of war were so large that at
times whole regiments had to be transported in
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freight cars. It was no uncommon thing for
the passenger department to receive an order
to move 10,000 troops at a few hours’ notice.
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